

















Southeast Dairy Business Innovation Initiative (SDBII)

Specialty Processing Equipment Grant

For Value-Added Dairy Businesses in Alabama, Arkansas, Florida, Georgia, Kentucky, Louisiana, Mississippi, North Carolina, South Carolina, Tennessee, Virginia, West Virginia, and Puerto Rico

2025 Grant Request for Proposal

Application Deadline:
September 24, 2025
at 5:00pm/ET



University of Tennessee Institute of Agriculture
Animal Science Department
244 C.E. Brehm Animal Sciences Building 2506
River Drive, Knoxville, TN 37996
sdbii.tennessee.edu



Table of Contents

Webinar Information	3
Background on the Southeast Dairy Business Innovation Initiatives Program	
Grant Description	
Award Funding Available	
Funding Priorities	
Eligible Applicants	
USDA-AMS - Allowable and Unallowable Costs	
Building & Land – Construction	
Consultant Costs/Professional Services	
Equipment	
Salaries & Wages	
Sales & Marketing Costs	
Application Requirements	8
Submission Process	8
Evaluation Criteria and Process	8
Application Scoring Criteria	8
Award Recipient Responsibilities	
Reporting Requirements	
Equipment Auditing and Disposition	
Grant Narrative	
Budget Form	
Applying by Mail	12

Webinar Information:

On July 24 at 2pm/ET a live virtual information session will be held. Register here.

Questions related to the grant or webinar can be directed to Shep Stearns

Email: sstearn1@utk.edu Phone: (860) 595-6053

Background on the Southeast Dairy Business Innovation Initiatives Program

The Southeast Dairy Business Innovation Initiatives (SDBII) program is based at The University of Tennessee Institute of Agriculture's Animal Science Department. Key program collaborators such as the Center for Profitable Agriculture (CPA), NC State, the University of Kentucky, Kentucky Dairy Development Council (KDDC), and others, offer guidance and support to the program. SDBII's mission is to spur growth for dairy producers and processors in the Southeast by helping them modernize and diversify their businesses.

SDBII provides dairy businesses in the Southeast with a variety of free and low-cost instructional resources. These include an annual value-added dairy conference, a variety of workshops on key industry topics, and decision-making tools that help dairy professionals make informed decisions as they plan for growth.

The program is funded by the Agricultural Marketing Service (AMS) division of the United States Department of Agriculture (USDA). In addition to the technical assistance and educational resources provided through SDBII, 50% of the program's funding is awarded in grants made directly to dairy businesses to assist them in becoming more profitable. As part of its mandate to increase innovation in dairy processing, SDBII makes grant awards to projects that focus on 1) diversifying dairy product markets to reduce risk and develop higher value uses for dairy products; 2) promoting business development that diversifies farmer income through processing and marketing innovation; and 3) encouraging the use of regional milk supply.

Grant Description

The Specialty Processing Equipment Grant provides reimbursement funds to dairy businesses located in the Southeast. Eligible states include Alabama, Arkansas, Florida, Georgia, Kentucky, Louisiana, Mississippi, North Carolina, South Carolina, Tennessee, Virginia, and West Virginia, as well as Puerto Rico. Applications may be submitted by permitted dairy businesses that operate or endeavor to operate a value-added dairy enterprise. For the purposes of evaluating eligibility, dairy businesses are considered to include companies that are engaged in the production and/or processing of milk for commercial consumption. Eligible businesses may be involved in the production or processing of milk from cattle, sheep, goats, water buffalo, camels, and other dairy species. Projects that involve investments related to the sale of raw milk for human or pet consumption are not allowed. Proposed projects must have the potential to diversify dairy product markets to reduce risk and develop higher value uses for the milk supply in the Southeast.

SDBII grants are offered annually. Applicants must select one grant category to apply to per grant cycle. Applicants may not apply to two grants that are offered in the same cycle (e.g., two grants with the same due date). Applicants who have been awarded one or more grants in previous cycles of the program may continue to apply and receive funding as long as no more than two awards will be active at one time. Previous grants in the same category must be deemed complete by SDBII prior to submitting a new application. Applicants may not be awarded more than \$700,000 total across all awards within a three-year period. This includes the amount the applicant applies for in the present round of funding.

4

Established dairy processors or dairy businesses that have conducted and attached a feasibility study detailing their plans for initiating a value-added dairy enterprise are invited to apply for funds to purchase specialty processing equipment. Applicants may also apply for funding for consultant services (for marketing etc.), installation costs, and supplies that support the project. However, the focus of the project must be the purchase of processing equipment that will support new processes and facilitate diversification or increased efficiency in production of finished dairy products.

Examples of eligible projects:

- A project to fund the purchase of a vat pasteurizer to create a new line of flavored milks.
- A project to fund the purchase of a cream separator to produce cream products.
- A project to fund the purchase of a new cheese drain table to increase capacity of cheese production.

Award Funding Available

\$150,000 maximum award; \$1.5MM is available to award. At least 10 grants will be awarded. The Specialty Processing Equipment Grant is competitive, and only the highest quality grants will be selected for an award of funding.

Match Requirement

Applicants must provide a cash match of at least 25% of the requested grant funds. For instance, a grant application requesting \$150,000 would require \$25,000 in matching expenses. Please note that a 25% match on requested funds is the same as 20% of the total project cost. To illustrate this, we can see that \$37,500 (the match) equals 25% of \$150,000 (the request), and 20% of \$187,500 (the total project cost). In some cases, it is easier to calculate the required match against the total project cost rather than against the request amount. Matching funds must be drawn from allowable grant expenses and therefore may not include costs for construction or labor from personnel employed by the grant applicant.

Funding Priorities

The Southeast Dairy Business Innovation Initiative (SDBII) program was developed to support dairy businesses in the development, production, marketing, and distribution of dairy products. Applicants to the Specialty Processing Equipment Grant may apply for funding to undertake projects that result in increased efficiency, capacity, or new processing capabilities in an existing or proposed dairy processing facility. Projects that address the following areas will be prioritized for funding:

- 1) Value chain and commodity innovation and facility and process updates for dairy processors.
- 2) Product development, packaging, and marketing of dairy products.

Eligible Applicants

In order to be eligible, applicants must meet all of the following criteria: (1) operate an existing, permitted dairy business in Alabama, Arkansas, Florida, Georgia, Kentucky, Louisiana, Mississippi, North Carolina, South Carolina, Tennessee, Virginia, West Virginia, or Puerto Rico (2) have a project that meets the following goals: (2a) diversify dairy product markets to reduce risk

and develop higher value uses for milk supply, (2b) promotes business development that diversifies farmer income through processing and marketing innovation, (2c) encourages the use of regional milk supply; and (3) have no immediate family members, i.e. parents, siblings, spouse, or children, working as an affiliated staff or faculty member with SDBII. Applicants who meet one or more of the following will be considered more competitive:

- Entities that received direct technical assistance through the SDBII;
- Dairy farms and dairy businesses with limited access to other forms of assistance;
- Employee-owned dairy businesses;
- Cooperatives;
- Dairy businesses that seek to create dairy products that add substantial value in processing or marketing, such as specialty cheeses

USDA-AMS - Allowable and Unallowable Costs

The following summarizes some of USDA-AMS allowable and unallowable costs. The categories listed below were selected based on the most popular grant requests during previous cycles.

Final decisions regarding eligibility will be based on the AMS published list of allowable/unallowable costs found in the link below.

https://www.ams.usda.gov/sites/default/files/media/AMSGrantsTermsandConditions.pdf

Building & Land – Construction

Unallowable for the acquisition of buildings, facilities, or land or to make additions, improvements, modifications, replacements, rearrangements, reinstallations, renovations or alterations of an existing building or facility (including site grading and improvement, and architecture fees). This also includes construction and construction-related materials.

Allowable for rental costs of land and building space. However, lease agreements to own (i.e., lease-to-own or rent-to-own) are not allowable. The lease or rental agreement must terminate at the end of the grant cycle.

Consultant Costs/Professional Services

Allowable subject to limitations below. Contractual/consultant costs are expenses associated with purchasing goods and/or procuring services performed by an individual or organization other than the recipient in the form of a procurement relationship.

Allowable for contractor/consultant employee rates that do not exceed the salary of a GS-15 step 10 Federal employee in the area. This does not include fringe benefits, travel, indirect costs, or other expenses. https://www.opm.gov/policy-data-oversight/pay-leave/salaries-wages/2022/general-schedule/

Equipment

Unallowable for acquisition costs of general-purpose equipment or lease agreements to own (i.e., lease-to-own or rent-to-own).

Unallowable for farm, gardening, and production activities, materials, supplies, and other related costs including but not limited to soil, seeds, shovels, gardening tools, greenhouses, and hoop houses.

Allowable for rental costs of general-purpose equipment. Vehicles may be leased, but not purchased. The lease or rental agreement must terminate at the end of the grant cycle.

Allowable for acquisition costs and rental costs of special purpose equipment provided specific criteria are met: Acquisition costs may include installation costs. However, installation costs (electricity, piping, water, etc.) are not eligible on their own.

Definitions

General Purpose Equipment means equipment that is not limited to technical activities. Examples include office equipment and furnishings, modular offices, telephone networks, information technology equipment and systems, air conditioning equipment, printing equipment, and motor vehicles.

Special Purpose Equipment is equipment used only for research, scientific, or technical activities (i.e., can only be used for activities directly related to dairy production).

Supply Items are defined as tangible property that is necessary to the completion of the proposed project with a per-unit acquisition cost less than \$5,000. These items may be general purpose or specialty.

Salaries & Wages

Unallowable Unallowable as a reimbursable expense or source of matching funds for all grant related activities.

Sales & Marketing Costs

Unallowable for costs designed solely to promote the image of an organization, general logo, or general brand.

Unallowable for costs for promotion of specific venues, tradeshows, events, meetings, programs, conventions, symposia, seminars, etc. that do not align with the legislated purpose of the grant program.

Unallowable for promotional items, swag, gifts, prizes, memorabilia, and souvenirs.

Allowable with conditions for projects funded under "Farmers Market and Local Food Promotion Program" (*FMLFPP*) for marketing activities directly related to the funded project. Promotional

items include point-of-sale materials, promotional kits, signs or streamers, automobile stickers, table tents, and place mats.

Allowable for costs designed to promote products that align with the purpose of the grant program.

Application Requirements

A complete application includes:

- 1. Completion of the Grant Narrative.
- 2. Completion of the Budget Workbook.
- 3. Submission of supplemental materials including business plans, feasibility studies, letters of support, conceptual drawings, estimates/quotes, and other budget justification items which can be added as an attachment when you submit your application to the grant email address.

Submission Process

All Specialty Processing Equipment Grant applications must be submitted <u>via the application portal</u> <u>available here</u> by 5pm/ET on September 24, 2025. If no confirmation response is received confirming your response, then your application HAS NOT BEEN RECEIVED. Email <u>sstearn1@utk.edu</u> for assistance.

The grant application and budget template documents are available for download here.

Evaluation Criteria and Process

Only complete applications (as outlined above) which are submitted on time, will be evaluated. Applications will be reviewed by a committee of industry experts that are not employed by the SDBII program. Program faculty and staff will not evaluate or score applications. If you have questions about the application process or would like feedback on a proposed application, please contact the coordinator assigned to your state (listed here). Feedback will not be available within two days of the deadline. Please begin work on your application and submit questions as early as possible. Soliciting feedback allows coordinators to determine whether your proposed project is eligible for SDBII funding. It does not ensure that your application will be funded.

To receive high scores from the review committee, the Grant Narrative should fully answer the questions clearly and directly. Project applications should clearly present how the project will be accomplished and undertaken within the project timeline of one year.

Supplementary documents, such as quotes, conceptual drawings, letters of support (LOS), and other documentation that supports the budget and project narrative, are needed to ensure your application is competitive. All proposed purchases that are part of the project should be accompanied by a quote or estimate. Equipment purchases (in excess of \$5,000) should be accompanied with at least one quote.

Application Scoring Criteria

Applications will be reviewed by a committee of experts in dairy farm and food production.

General scoring criteria are listed below. The scoring rubric used by grant reviewers is available here.

- Grant Application (5 possible points)
 - o Is the project description thorough and well-organized?
- Goals Alignment (10 possible points)
 - o How well does the project focus on at least one of the program alignment areas?
 - o Has the applicant participated in SDBII technical assistance programs?
- Summary (20 possible points)
 - o Does the project result in improved profitability for the applicant?
 - o Does the project result in improved efficiency or capacity for the applicant?
 - o Does the project result in a new process or product?
 - o Does the project support the retention or addition of jobs?
 - o Does the project support growth in the dairy supply chain?
- Work Plan (20 possible points)
 - o Has the applicant considered critical issues for a dairy business?
 - o Is the timeline reasonable and achievable within the grant period?
 - o Are the benchmarks for completing the project clear and detailed?
- Business Impact (20 possible points)
 - Does the project include a projection on how the investment in processing updates will pay off over time?
 - o Are the costs appropriate given the expected benefit?
 - o Is the project a logical improvement given the business' existing infrastructure?
- Budget (20 possible points)
 - o Is the total amount justifiable to achieve activities and outcomes?
 - o Is each budget item necessary to achieve the reported outcome?
 - o Are costs reported reasonable?
- Other Considerations (5 possible points)
 - o Is there any industry-wide benefit to the project?
 - O Does the applicant take a unique approach to the project?
 - o Can the project serve as a model for other dairy businesses to learn from?

Award Recipient Responsibilities

Applicants who receive funding for proposed projects will be responsible for the following:

- 1. Signing an agreement with the University of Tennessee Office of Sponsored Projects (OSP).
- 2. Completing the project within the contractual time frame.
- 3. Submitting a final project report in the required format per the executed contract.
- 4. Submitting a final financial report itemizing actual expenses. Copies of invoices and proof of payment must be submitted with reimbursement requests.
- 5. Agreeing to site inspection once the project is complete.
- 6. Other requirements as outlined in the grant contract. Grantees will have additional training on requirements before the contracts are executed.

Grant recipients who fail to provide the information needed to establish an agreement or fail to sign and return a complete grant contract by the deadlines provided at the time of contract issuance will have

their award rescinded. The award recipient may reapply in future grant cycles, but there is no guarantee they will be awarded funds in a future round.

Reporting Requirements

The level of success that award applicants demonstrate in the performance of their responsibilities in completing reporting and other obligations in a timely manner will be considered in future grant award submissions. Applicants who receive a grant award will be required to report on the progress of their project 6 months after the execution of their contract with The University of Tennessee. Award recipients will also be required to provide a project completion report within 60 days of the conclusion of their 12-month grant award period. Equipment funded through the Specialty Processing Equipment Grant should be fully installed, in operational condition, and in use. Submission of receipts for reimbursement must be completed by the end of the grant period. Receipts submitted after the grant period is complete will not be reimbursed. A final report on the project is due 12-months after the grant period ends.

To aid award recipients in completing their reporting responsibilities, a reporting template will be shared with them through email. Reporting areas will include the following: a description of the project intent, summary of the project accomplishments and outcomes, dollar amount of increase in sales, increase in markets reached, new products or processes developed, and jobs retained or created. In addition, there should be other insights from project execution, including, wherever possible, industry-wide benefits. Note: The University of Tennessee reserves the right to modify reporting requirements during the course of the project.

Equipment Auditing and Disposition

Equipment purchased as part of the Specialty Equipment Investment Grant with a per unit fair-market value of \$5,000 or more will be subject to an in-person audit on a yearly basis for the duration of the equipment's useful life. Applicants wishing to dispose of equipment pieces subject to audit must first contact SDBII personnel in order to properly adhere to USDA policy with regard to disposition of equipment purchased with grant funding.

Process Once Grant Award is Made

The grant review process will last between 6-8 weeks. Awards will be announced before the end of November. All applicants will be notified whether or not their grant application was awarded funds or not via an email from the SDBII Review Committee Chair Person. Those who are awarded funds **MUST NOT BEGIN SPENDING** on project costs for which they hope to receive reimbursement until they have been issued a contract by The University of Tennessee, signed it, and have had a **FULLY EXECUTED** contract returned to them. It is estimated that contracts will be issued mid-January 2026.

Grant Narrative

The information provided below for the Grant Narrative is for informational purposes only. The Grant Narrative and Budget sections must be completed and submitted via the **grant submission** portal by 5:00pm/ET on September 24, 2025.

The following questions will be asked on the Specialty Processing Equipment Grant application. It is recommended that you type your answers using the Microsoft Word application template (available here) and then copy and paste your final answers into the spaces provided on the application form. It is suggested that applicants review the scoring criteria (see above) before filling out the application.

- **1. Goal Alignment and Eligibility** Please identify which of the following grant program goals your application supports. Check all that apply:
 - Diversify dairy product markets to reduce risk and develop higher value uses for dairy products
 - Promote business development that diversifies farmer income through processing and marketing innovation
 - Encourage the use of regional milk supply
 - Value chain and commodity innovation and facility and process updates for dairy processors
 - Product development, packaging, and marketing of dairy products
 - Past participation in Southeast Dairy Business Innovation Initiative (SDBII) technical assistance programs.
- 2. Project Summary Describe your project and its intended outcomes. Please include details regarding the existing business. List and explain at least two specific outcomes with target completion dates that will result from this project and state the benefits in terms of improvements in profitability, efficiency (labor, time, capacity, production), animal and/or worker health and well-being, worker retention, or addition/maintenance of jobs. Provide background on the decision-making and planning process you engaged in creating the proposal for this project. As a reminder, services and equipment already purchased and acquired at the time of application cannot be reimbursed in this grant program.
- 3. Work Plan and Deliverables Describe the critical issues the business will face in completing the project, the amount of time needed to complete each step of the project within the grant period, and the specific benchmarks that will need to be met to complete the project. Provide a detailed explanation of the steps required to complete the overall project including the dates of completion. All listed items must contribute to your proposal's stated goals. Projects must be completed within 12 months. It is acceptable to complete a project before the scheduled performance period end date, but SDBII encourages applicants to take the full grant period to allow ample time to complete all project tasks. Use January 15, 2025 as the estimated start date (note: actual start date will depend on duration of the contracting process) and an estimated end date of January 15, 2026. Describe how each of the items to be funded through this grant will contribute to the overall project.
- **4. Business Fundamentals** Use the space below to give projections on how the processing facility investments included in the project will pay off over time and justify project costs. Pay-back opportunities could include increased processing capacity, decreased labor costs, reduced waste, etc. Explain the logic behind making these improvements given your existing facility infrastructure.

- **Additional Information** Use this space to explain anything additional regarding your project that you feel reviewers should know and has not been covered by the other questions. If any quotes for equipment or services are missing, please explain why here.
- 6. Supplemental Documents Applicants to the Specialty Processing Equipment Grant are required to submit at least two letters of support from collaborators (lenders, customers, partner organizations etc.). Submission of a business plan is required for all applicants. Submission of a business plan is required. Business plans should be recently updated (within the last three years), be relevant to the proposed project, and cover the one-year grant period projected to start January 1, 2026. Applicants who are not already engaged in a dairy processing business and propose to start one as a result of this grant must include a robust feasibility study in addition to a business plan for the proposed enterprise. All budget items (including installation costs) should be supported with at least one quote from a reputable vendor. Budget items costing more than \$5,000 should be supported with at least one quote. Applicants should also document the source of funding (e.g. bank loan, personal/business funds, grant funding) to make initial purchases associated with their project.

7. Budget Form

All applications must include a completed and detailed budget workbook. The budget workbook is available here.

Applying by Mail

For those who lack internet access and wish to submit a hard copy of the application may do so by filling out the Word document version available here. Mailed applications must be post-marked by September 25, 2025. Mailed applications must be addressed to:

Dr. Elizabeth Eckelkamp
University of Tennessee Institute of Agriculture
Animal Science Department
244 C.E. Brehm Animal Sciences Building
2506 River Drive, Knoxville, TN 37996